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WHY 565?


Various sources mention different numbers of princely states. While the count in the Report of the Indian States Committee, also called the Butler Committee (1929), is 562, a Report of the Joint Committee on Indian Constitutional Reforms (1933–34) refers to nearly 600 states. Meanwhile, the number listed in the Appendix of the White Paper released by the Government of India (1948) is 584.


In his book The Great Divide: Britain – India – Pakistan, H.V. Hodson mentions Sardar Patel stating the number 565 when speaking of the princely states with the then viceroy, Lord Mountbatten, a few weeks before 15 August 1947.


In his address to the Chamber of Princes on 25 July 1947, Viceroy Lord Mountbatten said, ‘Out of something like 565 states, the vast majority are irretrievably linked geographically with the Dominion of India.’


Several other references also state the number as 565. This number (565) was hence chosen for the title of the book.




Praise for the Book


‘Veiled as they are behind the drudgery of textbooks, some of the most enthralling episodes from the making of modern India fail to reach a majority of young Indians, who will go on to helm our future. One of these episodes is the integration of more than 500 princely states into the Union of India. As an impoverished and soon-to-be-liberated India ran the gauntlet of infernal communal violence and armed invasion, the venerable Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel and his sagacious aide, V.P. Menon, strove to cobble together, one challenging maharaja a time, the India we see on the map. Were it not for these two patriots and their valorous crusade against formidable odds, India’s fate would have been wholly different. This is their story.


An outstanding volume, woven into a spellbinding yarn by Mallika Ravikumar and brought to sparkling life by Ishan Trivedi’s excellent illustrations, 565: The Dramatic Story of Unifying India is sure to enthral readers, introducing them to the glory of independent India’s founders and the cataclysms they surmounted to leave behind the nation we boundlessly treasure.


– Dr Shashi Tharoor, author and Member of Parliament


565: The Dramatic Story of Unifying India is a compelling narrative that unravels the intricate negotiations, strategic manoeuvres and powerful personalities involved in integrating over 500 princely states into the Indian Union, both pre- and post-independence.


A well-researched book, with vivid storytelling, interesting snippets and a note on sources called ‘Did it Happen This Way’, it brings alive a pivotal yet overlooked chapter of Indian history.


– Rana Safvi, author and translator
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To


Appa


for the love of reading,


and


Amma


for the love of research




HOW TO READ THIS BOOK


Unlike a typical history-based book, events in this story do not unfold in a strictly chronological order. Events in each chapter are often occurring at the same time as those in other chapters and multiple fires are put out at once. Readers can therefore choose to jump to the story of any princely state that interests them, after reading the Prologue and initial sections to understand the background. That being said, the story does begin with Travancore (the first princely state to declare its independence) and ends with Hyderabad (among the last princely states to join India). Because the story has been narrated in this manner, you may find a few details repeated, as every chapter is meant to stand on its own as a separate unit, while at the same time being one part of the larger narrative.




Prologue


As the British prepared to leave India in 1947, India was not a single political entity. Although geographically one land mass, politically, India comprised two distinct portions:


1. British India


2. Princely India


British India was that part of India which had been directly annexed by the British and was administered by a government in Delhi. Divided into various provinces such as Bombay, Bengal, Sind and so on, it formed roughly half of the Indian subcontinent.


Princely India was that part of India which the British ruled indirectly through hereditary rulers, who were known by various names like maharaja, nawab, nizam and so on. Comprising over 500 kingdoms – some larger than nations in Europe; others, small landholdings barely visible on a map – this part formed about half of the Indian territory.


The indirect rule in Princely India (also called princely states) was facilitated through treaties, which were agreements the rulers had signed with the British Crown. Under these treaties, the rulers had been provided with security and various privileges by the British; and in return they had accepted the British monarch as their supreme or paramount power (the arrangement was hence called paramountcy).


When, on 20 February 1947, British Prime Minister Clement Attlee announced in the British Parliament that Britain would withdraw from India by June 1948, two processes were required to be undertaken:


1. In British India: Transferring power to the successor government of independent India; and


2. In Princely India: Ending the arrangement of paramountcy with the hereditary rulers.


On 3 June 1947, the deadline for Britain’s withdrawal was arbitrarily advanced by Lord Mountbatten, India’s last viceroy, when he suddenly declared that India would become independent on 15 August 1947, leaving less than three months for the mammoth task.


In British India, the transfer of power was a challenge because the two principal political parties in India back then – the Indian National Congress (or Congress) and the Muslim League – were at loggerheads. Most of us are familiar with that story, and the saga of the Partition of India that followed.


Little, however, is written or discussed about the dramatic events that occurred during the same period in Princely India; despite the fact that the princely states constituted about 45 per cent of the total territory, and 24 per cent of the total population of pre-Partition India. In fact, sixteen of those princely states had a population of over 1 million.


These princely states – 565 in all (by several accounts) were given three options:


1. Join India; or


2. Join Pakistan; or


3. Remain independent.


Several rulers were nervous about these developments. Over the years, many had helped Britain in her war efforts, even sided with the British in the Revolt of 1857, and were jittery about being left in the lurch. Some distrusted the Congress, as its leaders, such as Jawaharlal Nehru, were avowedly opposed to monarchy; hence the rajas and nawabs feared that their powers and privileges would be taken away in independent democratic India. Some negotiated with Muslim League leader Muhammad Ali Jinnah about joining Pakistan; others deliberated with one another about forming a third front and calling themselves Princestan; while some others preferred to simply stay out and declare their independence.


It was in these circumstances that a States Department was formed and placed under the charge of Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel and V.P. Menon to convince the over 500 princely states, scattered across the length and breadth of the subcontinent, to join India. With less than three months in hand – moreover, with other upheavals like Partition happening simultaneously – this was going to be an impossible race against time.


While every state had its own challenges and priorities, and tense events took place in some other princely states as well (such as in Alwar), it was not possible to include the story of every state in this book. With an effort to neither vilify nor idolize any of the personalities involved, or their decisions, the states featured in this book have been selected for the dramatic quality of how events unfolded there, and the far-reaching impact they had on the outcome. The stories of these states encompass nearly all the major events concerning the episode of the accession of princely states while providing a glimpse into this complex and colossal task.


This is the story of that immense endeavour, that unparalleled achievement in history, in which more than 500 princely kingdoms were threaded together into a union – in record time and against all odds – to create the India we now have.




The Key Personalities


[image: img]


WE CANNOT ALLOW THE COUNTRY TO SPLINTER INTO PIECES!


JAWAHARLAL NEHRU


Interim Prime Minister and first Prime Minister of Independent India


Fifty-seven-year-old Jawaharlal Nehru was the head of the interim government and was set to be the first prime minister of free India.


Nehru played a key role in supporting the States Department/Ministry in the impossible task of uniting 565 princely states.
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WE HAVE LESS THAN THREE MONTHS AND NEARLY 600 RULERS TO APPROACH!


SARDAR VALLABHBHAI PATEL


Minister of States


Vallabhbhai Patel, then seventy-two, headed the States Department that was given the responsibility to convince the princely states to join India. Many saw the pragmatic Patel as the best man for the challenging task.


Despite his age and failing health, Patel would become the deputy prime minister, and head the Ministry of Information and Broadcasting and the Ministry of Home Affairs, while also being on many committees drafting India’s Constitution.
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I HAVE A PLAN! LET’S USE THE PAUCITY OF TIME TO OUR ADVANTAGE!


V.P. MENON


Secretary, States Department


Fifty-four-year-old Vappala Pangunni Menon had had a long bureaucratic career, at the end of which came his posting as the reforms commissioner to the viceroy. After Independence, he looked forward to a quiet retirement, but Patel insisted that he take up the position of secretary in the States Department under him.


The critical agreement under which the princely states joined India, known as the Instrument of Accession, was Menon’s brainchild.
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I AGREE TO HELP APPROACH THE RAJAS AND NAWABS TO JOIN INDIA.


LOUIS MOUNTBATTEN


The Last British Viceroy; First Governor General of Independent India


The representative of the British king in India, Lord Louis Mountbatten was given the humongous responsibility of overseeing the transfer of power. Although he had to remain strictly neutral, he played a key role in bringing the princely states into India upon the suggestion of Menon and Sardar Patel.
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HINDUS AND MUSLIMS ARE TWO SEPARATE NATIONS.


MUHAMMAD ALI JINNAH


Leader of the Muslim League


Seventy-year-old Muhammad Ali Jinnah, leader of the Muslim League, was on the verge of carving out of India a separate country for Muslims. But contrary to his expectations, the map of Pakistan was much smaller than what he desired (with only half of Bengal and half of Punjab). As August 1947 neared, Jinnah hoped to compensate for this loss by luring various princely states into Pakistan’s fold – even those located deep inside India’s territory, and those with a Hindu-majority population, despite that being completely against the principles of his two-nation theory.
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PRINCELY STATES AND THEIR RULERS


The kingdoms called princely states were ruled by hereditary rulers who were known by various names such as raja, maharaja, maharawal, nawab, nizam and so on. As 15 August 1947 approached, these rulers had to make a decision about joining India. The states were ranked by the British and the more important ones, known as salute states, were ranked by the number of gun salutes given to the ruler – the higher the number of gun salutes, the more important the state. Occupying the highest position in this pecking order were the states of Baroda, Jammu and Kashmir, Gwalior, Mysore and Hyderabad – all of which were 21-gun-salute states.


PRIME MINISTERS/DIWANS OF PRINCELY STATES


Rulers of princely states appointed ministers or advisers: ‘diwans’ or prime ministers. The diwans of the princely states advised the ruler, and helped him administer and manage the state. Many of them played a decisive role in the saga of accession.


CHAMBER OF PRINCES


The Chamber of Princes, also called Narendra Mandal, was a forum formed in 1921 as an association of rulers of princely states. It was an advisory forum where princes got together for mutual consultations on matters that affected them as a whole. In early 1947, the nawab of Bhopal was the chancellor of the Chamber of Princes.


ALL INDIA STATES PEOPLES’ CONFERENCE (AISPC)


This was an all-India association of people living in the princely states. Initially, the Congress party did not want to interfere in the princely states, but gradually the national movement started having an impact among the people living there, who began demanding that their rulers provide them with a responsible government. The AISPC, also called the Praja Mandal, became the voice of the people in the princely states. In early 1947, Jawaharlal Nehru was the president of this association.
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THE POLITICAL DEPARTMENT AND ADVISER


The political department maintained links between Princely India and British India by appointing ‘residents’ or ‘agents’ in the princely states. The department was headed by a secretary, also called the political adviser, who worked under the viceroy. In 1947, the political adviser was Sir Conrad Corfield.




Pre-Partition India: 1947
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In 1947, princely states occupied approximately 45 per cent of Indian territory. Together, they had a population of 93.2 million, constituting about 24 per cent of the population of pre-Partition India. As the British left, every princely state was given the choice to join India, or join Pakistan, or remain free.




The Final Countdown
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WHO?


The princely states
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HOW MANY?


Approximately 565
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WHO DECIDES?


The ruler of each princely state
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DECISION TO MAKE:


Join India; or


Join Pakistan; or


Stay independent
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BY WHEN?


15 August 1947 – about two months!
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WHY DOES IT MATTER?


Princely India constituted roughly 45 per cent of pre-Partition India. The states’ territories were contiguous with and criss-crossed with British India


[image: img]


HOW?


Accede to India by signing two documents:


1. Instrument of Accession: To hand over powers on matters of external affairs, defence and communications to the Government of India


2. Standstill Agreement: To allow matters like postal services, railways and so on to continue to function as before, until further arrangement
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If a princely state acceded to Pakistan, or declared itself independent, India would have had pockets of Pakistan, or other nations within her borders – and would not have been the single, consolidated nation we now have.




A Basketful of Apples


‘Look,’ Viceroy Mountbatten said, interlacing his fingers and leaning on his desk, ‘you have asked me to help you with the princes, and I am ready. I have spoken to some of them and I feel that if the Congress can agree to some of their conditions, perhaps I can persuade them to sign the Instrument of Accession to join India…’


‘What conditions?’ asked Sardar Patel.


‘If you can get the Congress to agree that the princes may retain their titles and palaces,’ replied the viceroy, ‘and keep some of their rights such as immunity from arrest, their British decorations and so on, I can help you get them on board.’


Sitting back in his chair, Patel inhaled deeply as he mulled over the proposition. While he had nothing but contempt for the titles of the maharajas and nawabs, he couldn’t deny that the offer was tempting. No doubt the privileges were elitist, but those ranks and titles meant a lot to many in the pomp-loving, prestige-brandishing princely order. And, as a man of royal lineage, the viceroy’s word held great sway among the Indian royalty. If, by allowing them to retain their hollow perks, he could get Mountbatten to work his persuasive charm on the princes, perhaps that would work to India’s advantage.


‘I am prepared to accept your offer…’ Patel scratched his chin.


Mountbatten raised his eyebrows, startled by the swiftness of Patel’s response.


‘…provided,’ Patel cocked his head, ‘you give me a full basket of apples.’


‘I beg your pardon?’ asked the puzzled viceroy.


‘I’ll take the basket…’ clarified Patel, ‘provided it has all 565 apples.’


‘Ah!’ Mountbatten grinned, a tad amused by Sardar’s apple-basket metaphor for the princely states scattered across the subcontinent. But suddenly he didn’t feel quite as confident about the idea. ‘What if I can’t manage to bring in everyone?’ he asked. ‘Would you give me the leeway of a dozen states?’


‘That’s far too many.’ A stoic Patel shook his head, as a surprised V.P. Menon and bemused Hastings Ismay watched their bosses bargain over states like fruit sellers haggling in the marketplace. ‘Perhaps I can leave you two.’


‘Oh, that’s impossible, Mr Patel,’ the viceroy raised his hands in the universal gesture of surrender, ‘we have less than two months.’


‘Okay…I’m prepared to accept six less,’ shrugged Patel. ‘Any fewer and the deal is off.’


‘All right,’ the viceroy held out his hand. ‘I cannot guarantee it…but I will do my best.’


As the men shook hands to seal their unusual deal, Menon who had mooted the idea of reaching out to the viceroy for his help, looked up at the special calendar on the wall that showed the countdown to the date of the transfer of power. The number of days left to 15 August 1947 stared back at him in bold print. Menon heaved a nervous sigh.


Fifty days. Five hundred and sixty-five states.


The race was on!
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1


Breaking Free
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THE STORY OF TRAVANCORE


PRINCELY STATE OF TRAVANCORE IN 1947: about half the size of present-day Kerala


AREA: 7,662 square miles (19,844 square kilometres)


POPULATION: 6,070,018


RULER: Maharaja Chithira Thirunal Balarama Varma


CONSTITUTIONAL ADVISER: Sir C.P. Ramaswami Aiyar 19-gun-salute state
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‘In law as well as in fact,’ declared Sir C.P. Ramaswami Aiyar, Travancore’s brilliant and erudite prime minister, ‘Travancore will become an independent country from 15 August 1947.’


Dressed in a crisp black bandgala paired with a white dhoti and turban, Chetpat Pattabhirama Ramaswami Aiyar, known to most simply as CP, was addressing a large press gathering in the inner courtyard of Bhaktivilas, his official residence, with the authority and confidence that came with experience and excellence.


‘Travancore will not be a protectorate of any other dominion or dominions,’ CP triumphantly proclaimed the grand vision, one he shared with the kingdom’s young maharaja, Chithira Thirunal Balarama Varma, and the maharaja’s mother, Maharani Sethu Parvathi Bayi – for both of whom he was more than just a prime minister or diwan.


‘While we are prepared to enter into arrangements as required with India for purposes such as postal services, railways, water and so on,’ continued the diwan, loved by few and reviled by many, ‘there is no question whatsoever of Travancore joining India.’


Scribes, scribbling away furiously on their notepads, stopped to gape at the man on the podium. With his almond-shaped eyes, aquiline nose, delicate lips, unruly mop of thick, curly hair, phenomenal memory and oratorial flair, CP could well have been a fêted theatre artiste. But this performer had moulded himself for a far greater stage. Journalists from local dailies such as Malayala Manorama and Kerala Kaumudi to national newspapers like The Hindu and the Hindustan Times had turned up at the press conference expecting a momentous announcement, but this was beyond anything they had foreseen – Travancore was going to be an independent nation?
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THE PATH OF INDEPENDENT TRAVANCORE!


Murmurs rippled through the courtyard as CP paused for the full import of his words to sink in. The news would soon reach New Delhi, he mused, looking around at the reporters with satisfaction.


‘I ask the people of Travancore today…’ CP raised his pitch as he gazed at the grand arches above him as though he was envisioning a dream, ‘do you wish to cherish your freedom, or do you prefer to be submerged in anonymity in a divided India? His Highness, the maharaja, has decided that Travancore must remain independent, and I implore the people to stand by him in solidarity. Travancore is destined to be the saviour of south India.’


Years ago, CP had crossed paths with the Indian National Congress, and his commitment to the national cause had brought him into close contact with party stalwarts such as Annie Besant and Motilal Nehru. But those days were long gone. As things stood on that overcast day in June 1947, he harboured no love or reverence for the Congress triumvirate – not for Gandhi’s unconventional methods, not for Nehru’s socialistic leanings and, most certainly, not for Patel’s authoritative ways. And he had no intention whatsoever of gifting his prized kingdom to them.


‘From 15 August,’ the diwan said, holding up his forefinger, ‘no power on earth – short of open war, for which we are prepared – can prevent Travancore from asserting its independence. The path of necessity and the path of duty, the path of destiny and the path of glory’—he paused, as reporters jotted down his every word—‘is the path of independent Travancore.’
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The kingdom of Travancore was the only Indian power ever to have defeated a European naval force when one of its most illustrious rulers, Marthanda Varma, vanquished the Dutch fleet in 1741.


[image: img]





[image: img] At Daggers Drawn [image: img]


Springing up from his chair, Jawaharlal Nehru, his eyes tired and weary, flung the newspaper on the table in front of the viceroy. ‘CP has announced that Travancore will become an independent nation,’ he fumed, his face as red as the rose on his lapel. Viceroy Mountbatten turned to Nehru.


Dressed in his trademark cap, well-cut churidar-kurta and polished Peshawari sandals, the leader of the Congress appeared to have aged several years over the last month, vacillating between sudden displays of temper and long, moody silences. Having experienced one of Nehru’s outbursts first-hand in Simla only a few weeks ago, which had compelled him to rework the plan for the transfer of power, the viceroy braced himself for yet another explosion.
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‘TRAVANCORE DECLARES INDEPENDENCE.’


Seated to his left in a crisply tailored brown suit, a frail Muhammad Ali Jinnah, leader of the Muslim League, peered at the news article that had infuriated Nehru. Liaquat Ali Khan and Rab Nishtar, his colleagues from the League, exchanged telling glances.


‘Travancore has declared its independence,’ Nehru reiterated, this time with more vehemence. ‘This is impossible. If the other princely states follow suit, India will disintegrate into hundreds of pieces.’


‘Well…Travancore has every right to declare its independence,’ retorted Jinnah matter-of-factly, adjusting the monocle on his bony face.


Seated beside Nehru, with the bearing of a Caesar, Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel cast a grim sidelong glance at the Congress president, Acharya Kripalani. Weary of the constant bickering with Jinnah and his Muslim League, the Congress had finally agreed to Partition. But clearly more thorns lay strewn on the long road to freedom.


‘Absolutely,’ concurred Sir Conrad Corfield, head of the political department that oversaw the princely states, as he drew forward his copy of the Cabinet Mission Plan. ‘According to the terms here,’ he indicated the document, ‘the void resulting from the withdrawal of the British from India will have to be filled either by entering into a relationship with the successor governments, or by forming particular political arrangements as they, the states, deem fit.’


‘That does not mean the possibility of their remaining independent,’ thundered Nehru, throwing up his arms.


‘What else could “particular political arrangements” imply?’ demanded Corfield, tapping the words in the memorandum with his pencil.


‘I agree,’ Jinnah shrugged again. ‘Surely, after the lapse of British paramountcy, every princely state is sovereign and can do as it pleases.’


‘I do not see matters as you do,’ Nehru countered Jinnah, making no attempt to hide his dislike for the head of the Muslim League. Just a week earlier, Jinnah had quibbled over yet another clause, arguing that agreement to a proposal did not necessarily mean acceptance of the proposal. Jinnah and his histrionics exasperated Nehru. ‘As a lawyer, my views differ entirely on the interpretation of the phrase “particular political arrangements”.’
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IF THE PRINCELY STATES DECLARE INDEPENDENCE, INDIA WILL DISINTEGRATE INTO HUNDREDS OF PIECES…


‘I speak as a lawyer too,’ Jinnah shot back in his heavily accented English, heartily reciprocating the mutual dislike. ‘Every state has the right to choose,’ he insisted, ‘to either join India or Pakistan, or remain free. And CP has made his state’s position quite clear. In fact,’ Jinnah pressed on, ‘Travancore has even appointed its representative in Pakistan.’


‘How extraordinary!’ Nehru huffed, turning to the viceroy in dismay. ‘There is no Pakistan as we speak. I wasn’t aware envoys were now being sent off to non-existent countries.’


Turning to his chief adviser, General Hastings Lionel ‘Pug’ Ismay, the viceroy heaved a sigh. As if presiding over the dissolution of the empire of his great-grandmother, Queen Victoria, were not demanding enough, he was often tasked with having to officiate at meetings where grown men squabbled like schoolboys.


Exasperated, Nehru flopped back in his chair. The nation was on the brink of civil war. Punjab was in turmoil. Bengal was being torn apart. Riots. Arson. Looting. Mayhem. Food shortages. And now this!


Convinced that the princely states were being encouraged by the political department, Nehru turned next to Conrad Corfield. ‘I’m told you have been burning records related to the princes and offering the Crown’s police force to rulers,’ Nehru snickered. ‘What right does the political department have to take such unilateral action that could prove detrimental to the Government of India?’ he demanded. ‘My colleagues and I have not been brought into consultation at all,’ he bellowed before turning to the viceroy again. ‘A judicial enquiry at the highest level needs to look into this misfeasance.’


‘I take strong exception to this…’ remarked Corfield, glancing at Lord Mountbatten. But the viceroy said nothing to refute Nehru’s charge, leaving Corfield seething over Mountbatten’s patent partiality to the Congress leader. Nevertheless, mindful of Nehru’s immense capacity for speaking, Corfield harboured no desire to leave the floor open to him. ‘The states have a perfectly good case to opt out of joining either India or Pakistan, and that has been made clear by His Majesty’s government.’


An astute man of few words but decisive action, Sardar Patel tapped Nehru’s arm, urging him to simmer down. The sixteen-hour workdays were taking a toll on all of them, and Nehru’s frayed nerves had made him particularly irritable.


‘This is all the result of your lobbying for the princes,’ Nehru continued his tirade, pointing an accusing finger at Corfield. In Nehru’s view, most princely states were backward, feudal and autocratic; and most rulers, neither competent nor benevolent. He believed the princes had survived this long solely due to the indulgence of the British Crown that they enjoyed through the political department. ‘You have been conspiring with them,’ he added, ‘and encouraging the sad ambitions of the maharajas to turn their kingdoms into independent countries.’


‘And what if I have?’ countered Corfield, wondering why Nehru was so riled up about allowing the rulers to retain their independence, when Jinnah didn’t appear worried. It seemed to him that Nehru was only feigning anxiety to improve India’s bargaining position with the rulers. However, as chief of the political department responsible for the princely states, he felt duty-bound to stick up for them. ‘Europe has small efficient nations like Denmark and Switzerland,’ he said, ‘so there is no reason Travancore cannot replicate that model here.’


‘That way, India will be balkanized…fractured into hundreds of pieces!’ Nehru protested. ‘This is…’


There was a knock on the door, followed by the entry of Eric Miéville, Lord Mountbatten’s private secretary.


‘My apologies for the intrusion…’ said Miéville and then quickly walked across the room, whispered into the viceroy’s ear and handed him a note. The viceroy’s face paled as he read the message.


‘The nizam of Hyderabad has issued a firman…’ the viceroy broke the news hesitantly.


‘What now…’ Nehru’s face clouded with worry. Head of a 21-gun-salute state, the nizam of Hyderabad was the richest and most prominent of the Indian rulers. Anything he did would undoubtedly produce a ripple effect.


‘The nizam has declared that on 15 August 1947, Hyderabad too will become an independent sovereign nation,’ announced the viceroy.


Jinnah suppressed a slight smile.


Liaquat Ali Khan nodded in approval.


Nehru sank back into his chair.


Patel closed his eyes in despair.


Independent India was yet to be born.


And already, every day, she was dying a thousand deaths.
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As the sun began to set on the most precious jewel in Britain’s vast empire, it prepared to rise over the city of Delhi, casting long, early morning shadows on the grassy lawns of 1 Aurangzeb Road, the official residence of Sardar Patel, where an animated discussion was already underway.


Patel, pragmatic veteran of the freedom struggle and devoted disciple of Gandhi, had been appointed as minister of the new States Department and entrusted with solving the challenge of the princely states. To bring in, within a mere six weeks, about 565 kingdoms into the new Indian dominion – some of them larger than England; others too small to be easily located on a map – a task the likes of which had never been attempted anywhere else before. But even before he could saddle up his horse and take charge of the reins, the ground had started shifting beneath their feet with Travancore and Hyderabad declaring their independence.


‘CP has already applied to the United Nations to accept Travancore as a member,’ K.M. Panikkar, the suave diwan of Bikaner, informed the motley group seated on cane chairs around the coffee table in the garden. ‘I believe he has also appointed a trade agent in Pakistan, and sought recognition from America and Britain.’


‘Tell me…’ said Sardar calmly, resting his elbow on the armrest, ‘is this the maharaja’s own decision?’ In his trademark khadi kurta and dhoti, hand-spun by Maniben, his daughter, seventy-two-year-old Sardar Patel knew he needed to tackle the Travancore situation head-on and looked to men like Panikkar for their wise counsel. Like CP, Panikkar too was the prime minister of a princely state. But, unlike CP, Panikkar’s loyalty to the Congress and the nationalists was undisputed. He had been canvassing for closer relations between the princes and the Congress, and as a Travancorean, he had an intimate understanding of events in his home state.


‘Maharaja Chithira Thirunal is young, and controlled by his mother and the diwan,’ Panikkar explained. ‘The maharaja comes across as diffident and shy,’ he lamented, ‘perhaps because he is a mild-mannered and pleasant young man, very much like his introverted father. His masterful mother is all-powerful, and CP even more so. They have placed the maharaja’s father under house arrest, claiming that he is of unsound mind. The son is wholly in the iron grip of the maharani and the diwan.’


‘I see…’ Sardar nodded, making a mental note that it was the diwan he needed to woo in the southern state, rather than the maharaja.


‘Sardar, this has encouraged other princes who are dreaming of establishing a third force, a union of princely states,’ said K.M. Munshi, the Bombay-based lawyer and trusted Congressman in Sardar’s inner circle. ‘They are inspired by the wizard of Travancore.’


‘This kind of rogue-elephant politics makes my blood boil,’ Panikkar exploded, referring to CP’s sensational announcement. ‘The people of Travancore will give a fitting reply at the right time to save the state and the maharaja from the stewardship of the Sachivottama,’ Panikkar declared, folding his hands in mock reverence to the title ‘Supreme Counsellor’ that the maharaja had bestowed upon CP.


Sardar clicked his tongue and was about to say something, but Panikkar had not finished, ‘The man is a practised acrobat! Depending on the direction of the wind, he will somersault to suit his agenda. I am prepared’—he stood up abruptly—‘to resign from my my position as diwan in Bikaner and return to Travancore. I will join the State Congress in Travancore.’ Panikkar continued to ramble and grumble as he paced the lawn. ‘I will put up a fight. I will expose CP and resist him.’


‘CP’s attitude is most disturbing,’ interposed T.M. Varghese, in charge of Congress propaganda in Travancore. ‘A few days ago, CP called for a press conference in Trivandrum and insulted all the Indian leaders,’ he updated Sardar and the others at the meeting, about the shrill media battle underway in Travancore with the eloquent and masterful CP engaging the Congress in a war of words. ‘We have to work towards setting up a popular government in the state. If needed, CP must be removed by force.’


‘Have you seen CP’s onslaught against me in the Malayalam press?’ Panikkar spat, when Varghese paused for breath. ‘And for what?’ he demanded rhetorically, spreading out his hands. ‘For exposing his misdeeds? Do you know what they call him in Travancore? An adopted son of the British,’ he ended on a note of withering scorn.


Panikkar then weighed in with a blistering attack on how CP and his administration had gagged newspapers and crushed media liberties in Travancore.


‘It is not just you,’ remarked V.P. Menon, the viceroy’s constitutional adviser, slated to take over soon as secretary to the States Department under Sardar Patel, ‘CP spares nobody. Ayyangar, Ambedkar – everyone who opposes him has had to face his wrath.’


‘What’s that slogan he raises?’ Panikkar sneered. ‘Travancore for Travancoreans! Bah! Perhaps he needs to be reminded that he is not a Travancorean himself.’


Panikkar was miffed, much like many other Travancoreans who resented Tamil domination in their state. CP, a Tamil Brahmin who had at one time been the most illustrious lawyer of the Madras High Court, had eclipsed all other voices and stood alone now as the maharaja’s close confidant and trusted lieutenant.


‘The truth is the creation of Pakistan is not as much of a damaging blow to India’s prestige or influence,’ mused R.K. Shanmukham Chetty, former diwan of Cochin, who had been a quiet listener thus far. The raja of Cochin had taken a progressive and cooperative stand of joining India, making its neighbour Travancore stick out like a sore thumb. ‘The real danger to our unity is the attitude of the princely states. If the others follow Travancore’s example, it would usher in the balkanization of India, and the country will be splintered into smaller nation states. It is truly ironical that CP, a champion of nationalism, should now ally with Jinnah.’


Sardar listened patiently. They were all consumed by the same fear: if Travancore were allowed to have its way and others followed its example, India could be fragmented into several pieces.


‘Well…Hyderabad has already followed Travancore to the party,’ scoffed Panikkar.


‘Goondas armed with lathis and knives roam the streets of Travancore, wrecking public meetings,’ said Pattom T. Thanu Pillai, president of the Travancore State Congress. ‘They parade around the streets, harassing Congress workers. The police support them. There is utter chaos in the state.’


‘I must…I must give up my post in Bikaner…’ Panikkar muttered. ‘I must go to Travancore.’ He clenched his fists, outraged at Travancore’s intransigence.


‘You will do no such thing,’ said Sardar emphatically, tossing one end of his shawl over his shoulder as he rose from the wicker chair. Teetering on the edge of peril, there would be some princes who would not hesitate to stab the nation in the back… He was prepared for that blow. ‘I will do whatever needs to be done…I will handle this. As long as the Congress continues to have a foothold there,’ he declared, ‘there is no question of Travancore’s independence.’
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‘The millionaire Seth Dalmia has deposited five lakh rupees into the Travancore State Congress fund,’ a visibly edgy CP informed his maharaja, who sat leaning against plump bolsters on a silken mattress. ‘No prizes for guessing what that means.’


The diwan was at the magnificent Kowdiar Palace for his daily briefing with the maharaja. The spectacular three-storeyed palace, with its rising steeples and over a hundred rooms, topped with the quintessential Kerala-style gabled roof, had been built by Maharaja Chithira Thirunal as his official residence for his sister’s wedding a decade ago. His mother, Maharani Sethu Parvathi Bayi, in her off-white saree and high-necked blouse, long, dangling gold necklaces bedecking her throat, sat beside the maharaja.
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THE CONFIDENT KING-MOTHER
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THE YOUNG MAHARAJA
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THE RESOURCEFUL DIWAN


‘Seth Dalmia?’ the maharaja enquired, turning to his mother. ‘The owner of the cement businesses and airlines?’


‘Hmm…I’m sure it’s all Sardar Patel’s doing,’ grumbled Sethu Parvathi Bayi, cracking a betel nut with her silver nutcracker. A uniformed attendant in a red turban stepped forward and bowed low. She waved him away. The ‘Junior Maharani’, as she was known, was no ordinary King- Mother. After the throne had passed to Chithira Thirunal at the age of twelve from his uncle, Sethu Parvathi Bayi’s elder cousin – Sethu Lakshmi Bayi – had been appointed as regent to rule on behalf of the young monarch until he came of age. But even before the regency was due to terminate, Parvathi Bayi had wrested power from her cousin, with CP’s intelligence and resourcefulness, establishing herself firmly in a position of control over the docile maharaja.


‘This means more trouble,’ said CP, glancing at Sethu Parvathi Bayi. ‘The Congress is strong and well organized at the grassroots. The money will be used for organizing agitations by its supporters. There will be chaos.’


‘Let them try…’ the maharani said through gritted teeth, ‘we will give them a fitting answer.’


‘They’ve already gone all out to malign me in the press,’ the diwan exclaimed, handing a sheaf of newspaper cuttings in a folder to the maharaja. ‘Just look at this nonsense!’


The maharaja leaned forward and took the folder from his diwan. He winced at the crude remarks and unflattering caricatures. The reports were full of mud-slinging and name-calling. He pushed the folder away in disgust.


‘They are making a mockery of us,’ the diwan shook his head.


‘Tell me – the people…are they really against us?’ the maharaja asked, his gentle features furrowed with worry. His gold earrings glinted in the soft sunlight filtering in through the wooden window slats. Travancore had been the first state to proclaim equality in temple-entry rules, allowing people of all castes into temples. It had been a revolutionary change, eliciting praise from Mahatma Gandhi himself. Education, industrialization, food security, irrigation, reform – his kingdom had spearheaded progress in almost every field. Revenue in the state had quadrupled during his reign. ‘Surely,’ the maharaja voiced his thoughts, ‘the people realize we have done so much for their welfare.’


‘It is no doubt disconcerting,’ reflected the diwan, marvelling at the fickle nature of public memory. He had been a brave and dynamic administrator for nearly ten years. All the good they had done for the state had been forgotten, erased, wiped out – drowned out in the aggressive and noisy propaganda drummed up by the Congress mouthpieces. ‘I would advise Your Highness to reconsider your stand about holding out,’ he said. ‘I must warn you that you are treading on quicksand.’


‘Does nobody support my decision?’ asked the maharaja, genuinely perplexed.


‘Well…Mr Jinnah supports us,’ the diwan shrugged. ‘We have also received a letter of support from Mr Savarkar of the Hindu Mahasabha. The nawab of Bhopal and the nizam of Hyderabad – they are holding out as well.’
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Two features made Travancore unique amongst the princely states. Firstly, as was the custom in the region, kingship was passed on matrilineally from uncle to nephew, and not patrilineally from father to son. So, a ruler’s heir was his sister’s son, and not his own child. Secondly, Lord Padmanabhaswamy was regarded as the head of the kingdom and the maharaja considered himself to be a trustee, ruling on behalf of the deity.
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‘Travancore doesn’t belong to the people, nor to us, to simply hand it over to Mr Patel on a platter,’ pointed out Sethu Parvathi Bayi, her face taking on a mutinous look. ‘Travancore belongs to Sree Padmanabhaswamy.’ She raised her reverently folded hands above her face. Maharaja Marthanda Varma, who had ruled Travancore nearly 200 years ago, had surrendered the kingdom to Lord Padmanabhaswamy, the titular deity of the royal family. To Sethu Parvathi Bayi there was no question at all about handing over their sacred kingdom to India.


‘Precisely,’ agreed the maharaja, following his mother’s lead. ‘I am only the Padmanabha-dasa, a servant, a humble custodian, who governs the state in the name of the Lord. How can I hand over something that is not mine?’


‘I’ve been hearing about an economic boycott by India if we don’t accede,’ the diwan informed the maharaja in a sombre voice, his approach practical and realistic as always. ‘India is threatening to stop all supplies to us. A trade embargo will affect us badly.’


‘Make alternative arrangements, then!’ snapped the maharani, tucking her long, fragrant tresses behind her ears as she rose to walk to the window.


‘India may cut off supplies of steel and cement to us…’ said the diwan. ‘I am trying to arrange a trade agreement with Pakistan and England to take care of that. I am leaving for Delhi tomorrow to meet the viceroy. I will take it up with him.’


‘Very well, then,’ the maharani said, throwing open the window’s shutters and inhaling the soft scent of the earth released by the pre-monsoon showers, ‘our decision remains unchanged. Travancore will soon be an independent nation.’
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Sardar Patel waited at his desk as Shankar, his personal secretary, tried to put the telephone call through.


After much coaxing and cajoling, CP had agreed to come to Delhi to meet the viceroy, and Sardar was keen to mend fissures and build bridges. Much water had flowed under the bridge since the time CP had been a Congress member and an ardent nationalist. They now inhabited worlds that were poles apart. Sardar owed his allegiance to democracy; CP had bent the knee to monarchy.


The call came through. Shankar handed Sardar the receiver and sat down by his side, as he often did on important calls, leaning into the earpiece to assist Sardar, who was slightly hard of hearing.


‘I believe you are expected in Delhi to meet the viceroy,’ said Patel after exchanging pleasantries with CP. ‘I will be pleased if we could have a short meeting.’


‘Hmm…’ CP sounded cold and non-committal.


‘It is in my nature to be a friend of the friendless,’ Patel remarked, pressing the telephone to his ear. ‘You have become one by choice. I will be glad if you can come and have lunch with me tomorrow at 1 p.m. What do you say?’


CP mulled over the backhanded courtesy. A man of the arts as much as one of politics and law, CP revelled in the realm of literature. For someone who quoted Shakespeare and Wordsworth as effortlessly as he recited verses from the Upanishads and Vedas, not a single word was employed without intent. He would not let the seemingly gracious barb pass without a rebuttal.


‘I appreciate your invitation,’ replied CP after a deliberate pause, ‘and the kind thought underpinning it, but it so happens that the friendless person you refer to,’ he enunciated each word slowly, ‘has an engagement with someone else for lunch tomorrow.’


‘Ah, I see…’ mumbled Sardar.


‘Therefore, I’m afraid he cannot avail of your friendly and generous invitation,’ CP continued speaking of himself in the third person to roughen the blow.


Sardar suppressed a wry smile. In the three decades he had spent in public life, he had come across people of all shades. From vainglorious princes to cantankerous officials, earnest nationalists to desperate despots, morally bankrupt sycophants…to even bumbling fools. But seldom had he clashed with a man of CP’s stature and chutzpah.


‘But since you’ve reached out,’ continued CP, ‘may I take this opportunity to remind you that Travancore is nominally ruled by the maharaja, as a trustee of the Lord. The real ruler, as you know, is Sree Padmanabhaswamy. And surely you understand that the Lord cannot be compelled to negotiate a treaty submitting to India.’


‘Is that so?’ scoffed Sardar, unimpressed by the argument. ‘Then please tell me how Lord Padmanabha could negotiate a treaty with the British and become subservient to them!’


It was CP’s turn to retreat to the back foot. ‘Anyway…’ he sighed, feigning regret, ‘let me thank you once again for your extremely kind act of friendliness. Let’s hope for better luck next time.’ He disconnected the call.


Sardar exhaled heavily and handed the receiver back to a bewildered Shankar. Few men had the audacity to snub Patel. In Sir Chetpat Pattabhirama Ramaswami Aiyar, Sardar Patel had met his match.
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‘We have everything a nation needs: A strong economy. Exportable products. A highly literate population. A long coastline with our own ports. An established trade link with the world. Joining India would mean surrendering our huge revenue from customs and import duties to Delhi. We will be reduced to a fifth-grade state.’ CP drowned V.P. Menon in a deluge of words as he picked at sliced fruit with a silver fork as they sat face to face at the well-appointed breakfast table in the tea room at Travancore House in Delhi.


V.P. Menon, secretary to the States Department – or the velvet glove on Sardar’s iron fist, as some would call him – nodded, playing along as he dabbed his lips with a napkin, glad to have managed to squeeze in a quick meeting with the diwan of Travancore before his luncheon with the viceroy.


‘India asks you to accede with respect to three aspects alone, sir,’ Menon clarified. ‘Defence, external affairs and communications – that’s all. We do not seek to interfere in the other affairs of the states.’


‘Hmm…I see…’ CP took a sip of his coffee, before pushing his cup away in disgust. The coffee in Delhi tasted nothing like the freshly ground filter brew in his home in Madras. He gulped down some water to wash away the unpleasant aftertaste.


‘On 15 August, when the princely states reclaim their sovereignty, they will be literally released from the Centre, with no contact either with the Centre or with each other,’ Menon presented the picture of things to come. ‘This is a dangerous position, sir. Transitions are always risky,’ Menon continued, trying to draw CP into a mind game, ‘and if we do nothing to secure the situation, there will be complete chaos.’


‘My dear Menon,’ CP replied, ‘you may recall that a few years ago, Mr Nehru said he recognized no treaties between the Crown and the states. He said anybody speaking of treaties is either a lunatic, a knave or a fool! And you want me to put my faith in an administration headed by him?’


‘Sir, unless safeguards are put in place,’ Menon argued, drawing his chair closer to broach an angle he knew would appeal to CP. ‘There is a great danger of undesirable elements rearing their heads…you know what I mean,’ Menon whispered conspiratorially. ‘If you wish to counter the communist threat, joining forces with the Congress is your best course of action.’


CP cocked his head. It was no secret that he detested communists. A year ago, his administration had come down heavily on a communist uprising in Vayalar, drawing ire in the press, which had alleged that the state police had killed over a thousand people. Communist ideology, he had made clear, had no place in Travancore.


‘Well, Mr Menon, you say that joining hands with the Congress will help us keep the communists at bay,’ CP said, buttering his toast, ‘but I hear Nehru’s sister, Vijaya Lakshmi Pandit, has been appointed ambassador to Moscow.’


‘I…I beg your pardon?’ Menon looked puzzled, unsure how that had anything to do with anything.


‘The maharaja has the overwhelming support of his people, a highly educated populace in South Asia,’ CP replied stridently. ‘They cannot be coerced to join a dominion whose leaders have diplomatic relations with communist powers like the Soviet Republic. For all we know, there will soon be Russian embassies mushrooming all over India.’


‘Sir, now you are letting your imagination—’ Menon began, scratching his receding hairline while he made a mental note of CP’s dramatic reaction. Clearly, this was what the diwan feared most. He would have to press the viceroy to exploit this fear.


‘Imagination?’ CP cut him off. ‘Don’t you know the main centres of communist influence in India are within 50 miles of Travancore?’


‘And a strong, united Centre will help you fight it,’ Menon countered. ‘Joining forces with India will make you stronger.’


CP put down his knife and fork. His disagreement with Gandhi and distrust of Nehru were both common knowledge. The Congress party, in his view, was an accident waiting to happen.


‘Look, sir,’ said Menon in a conciliatory tone, ‘among all the politicians in the country, there is no one I respect more than you. It ought not to be said of you that at India’s most critical hour, you did not make your contribution towards building the nation when it was within your power to do so.’


Crafty and cheeky, thought CP, smiling slightly. Menon had tried reasoning, then played to his fears and followed it up with unabashed flattery. He was impressed. ‘I’ll think it over…’ he replied, leaning back. Despite his differences with Sardar, CP found himself admiring the states minister and his squad. Victory is surely within reach for a captain who chooses his team wisely, he thought to himself; and Sardar, it seemed, had taken great care in selecting his partners – Menon, the self-effacing bureaucrat sitting before him at the breakfast table, and Lord Mountbatten, the pomp-and-pageantry–loving viceroy, whom he was due to meet next.
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The large French windows in Viceroy Mountbatten’s study overlooked the splendid Mughal Gardens and made for a spectacular setting. Nevertheless, hardly anyone who stepped into the stately green room in the last days of the British Raj had the time or the inclination to enjoy the stunning view.


Among the many tense and harrowed visitors to the viceroy that summer was John Wilmot, minister of supply for the Labour government in London, entrusted with delivering a top-level secret message to the viceroy.


‘On the Travancore issue’—Wilmot got directly to the point, dabbing at the perspiration on his forehead with a handkerchief—‘His Majesty’s government wishes that you do not commit anything.’


‘What do you mean?’ The viceroy was intrigued. The diwan of Travancore had travelled all the way to Delhi to meet him and they were to have lunch shortly, over which he intended to cajole CP into joining India. His private secretary, Abell, had just handed him a note from V.P. Menon, with tips on how to approach the matter. These instructions from London were both sudden and befuddling.


‘Let me explain,’ Wilmot said, taking off his coat. ‘The richest known deposits of monazite sand are in Travancore. As you know, monazite sand is a source of thorium. And thorium is a nuclear fuel, for atomic energy…likely to be as significant as uranium.’


Lord Mountbatten raised his eyebrows. When he had agreed to his appointment as viceroy, he knew he had taken on a very thorny job. With Britain’s economy in a shambles, Prime Minister Attlee had announced Britain’s withdrawal from India by 1948. But, with the Congress and Muslim League perpetually at loggerheads, working out the modalities of the transfer of power had turned out to be a formidable challenge. And yet, nobody had warned him of the most complex problem of all – the knotty tangle of the princely states. And even as he tried to unravel the snarls one at a time, they seemed intent on getting into a matted mess of petty politics all over again.


‘Germany has had a monopoly on Travancore’s thorium supplies for many years,’ Wilmot went on, ‘and we have been buying thorium from the Germans at several times their buying price. We have finally made a breakthrough and signed an agreement with Travancore for thorium. We don’t want that to be jeopardized.’


Viceroy Mountbatten leaned forward to rest his elbows on the desk and cupped his chin. Although she was withdrawing from India, Britain wanted to retain her influence in the subcontinent as it was strategically important – both in countering Russia and to secure her own future interests. He pursed his lips, recalling the promise he had made to Patel to help resolve the issue of the princely states. This was going to be a tightrope walk!


‘And as per the terms,’ Wilmot went on, ‘Travancore can cancel the agreement in case of a change in Britain’s policy. The secretary of state for India fears that they might actually do so if we fail to support them in their quest for independence. Travancore requires careful handling.’


The memory of the day he had taken over as viceroy suddenly flashed back to Lord Mountbatten. On that day, his predecessor Lord Wavell had handed him a file on the transfer of power which he had codenamed ‘Operation Madhouse’. Mountbatten was now beginning to see why. ‘So…do you want me to support Travancore’s stand to remain independent?’ he asked, leaning back in his chair.


‘Avoid making any statement that gives either Travancore or India any leverage,’ advised Wilmot, handing the viceroy the secret memorandum from their India Office in London. ‘Be neutral. Be evasive. Let the tide run its course.’


Mountbatten glanced through the memorandum and handed it to Hastings Ismay. ‘Secret and Confidential’, he scribbled across it, wondering how he ought to deal with CP now, given this new angle to the tangle.


‘I may as well add,’ said Wilmot, leaving no room for doubt as he rose to leave, ‘that it would be to Britain’s advantage if Travancore remained independent.’
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As the viceroy prepared to meet CP in Delhi, the kingdom of Travancore prepared for the birth centenary celebrations of Swathi Thirunal, one of their most glorious kings. As huge crowds arrived at the Trivandrum railway station, three burly shadows lurked in the dimly lit corridor of GBR Boarding and Lodging nearby – three men on a deadly mission.


‘Here’s the money for your rent,’ said Velayudhan Nair, thrusting some soggy, rain-soaked notes into the hands of the portly K.C.S. Mani, who had journeyed over a hundred miles from Ernakulam for the special task.


‘And here’s the payment for the job,’ whispered Chellappan Pillai, counting out some more money before handing it to the hitman. ‘CP will be back from Delhi tomorrow morning. Don’t mess it up this time.’


Mani swallowed hard. After the unsuccessful attempt at the Victoria Jubilee Town Hall, he was determined not to fail this time. Having completed a thorough reconnaissance of the location, he was certain the plan was foolproof.


‘Do you have what you need?’ asked Nair, as a railway engine tooted in the distance.


Mani nodded, pointing to the large, curved knife in his bag as he looked over his shoulder. Sometimes, he was filled with confidence; at other times, with a deep sense of foreboding.


‘Here, keep this carefully…’ Pillai handed Mani a small rectangular slip of paper. ‘It’s the music academy pass for tomorrow,’ Pillai whispered. ‘I managed to get it from a student.’


Mani slipped it into the pocket of his khadi jubba.


‘Remember, the place will be heavily guarded,’ Pillai reminded Mani as he turned to leave. ‘Stick to the plan. Finish him off!’
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Miles away from the plot to assassinate him, CP placed a copy of the Bharat Jyoti newspaper on the viceroy’s desk. ‘May I draw Your Excellency’s attention to this outrageous and perverse piece…’ he said. ‘A part of the continuous, scurrilous attack on me by the Congress-influenced press.’


The viceroy suppressed a smile as he glanced cursorily at the cartoon before him, depicting CP being spanked by him like a naughty schoolboy for demanding independence for Travancore. The Malayalam press, it seemed, was having a field day, humiliating the diwan of Travancore as payback for his excesses against them over the years.


‘The Congress-supported agitation has not abated despite your assurances,’ said CP, turning to the folder he had placed upon the table. ‘Here…’ he said as he extracted a newspaper clipping, ‘they speak of Travancore being put in its proper place…and here, Nehru’s speech of 1 July,’ CP pulled out another article. ‘He says states cannot be allowed to be independent, that the Congress will not recognize the independence of any state in India… What does this mean?’


CP was beside himself with rage. ‘The Cabinet Mission Plan and His Majesty’s government have assured us that paramountcy will revert to the states after 15 August, and that the states can choose to remain independent. Our decisions and actions are perfectly legitimate. It is the Congress that is indulging in unconstitutional means to grab the princely kingdoms.’


The viceroy glanced at the articles laid out on the table.


‘And here…’ CP whipped out one more clipping, this time a cutting from the Hindustan Times. ‘What is all this talk of unpatriotic princes, I ask. This paper is a mere mouthpiece for Sardar Patel—’


‘On that note,’ the viceroy cut in, ‘I wish you could meet Sardar Patel to discuss your grievances. I can tell you that Patel is a complete realist. If you could discuss these matters, the whole situation may be changed.’


‘No…I do not wish to see him,’ CP replied firmly. ‘There is a fundamental difference in my outlook and theirs. I do not see eye to eye with Gandhi or his so-called disciples,’ he said, making a derisive reference to Patel and Nehru. ‘And I have no faith in the Congress treating its opponents fairly or equitably. In fact, this whole business of accession is being steamrolled by the central leaders.’


‘But, Sir Ramaswami, you have always insisted on a strong Centre all these years when the federal structure of government was under consideration…’


‘Undoubtedly…but that was when India was to be one country. That is no longer so. India is going to be divided. And besides,’ CP said, leaning forward, ‘a state like Travancore must keep its commerce and foreign-trade position intact. Our state lives by customs earned through import and export. Without it, Travancore would be nowhere.’


‘That is precisely why you need to work out at least some sort of a working relationship, even if it’s a loose one, with the Indian government,’ the viceroy replied, Wilmot’s instructions to stay evasive and neutral ringing in his ears. ‘You are linked with them geographically whether you like it or not.’


‘Yes, I understand that,’ CP responded. ‘I grant that certain flexible relationships would need to be established with India for that reason. I met Menon earlier today and he has explained that India seeks accession on the three subjects of defence, external affairs and communications. If there is a possibility of coming up with a formula by which these can be worked in alongside the internal independence of the state…maybe a treaty of some kind…then I can take it to the maharaja.’


‘I hear you have deployed a trade agent in Pakistan?’


‘Yes, we have,’ CP nodded, ‘and we plan to send out trade agents and representatives not only to India and Pakistan, but to all the countries in the world.’


‘As you know, I have called all the states for a conference on 25 July. I hope to lay out the terms before all the rulers and have a discussion on—’


‘Travancore will not attend this summit,’ cut in CP tersely. ‘As we have decided not to join India, there is little point in it.’


‘Look…you spoke of a special treaty,’ the viceroy pointed out. ‘Let me tell you, the other states will not like Travancore being treated differently. So it would be unrealistic to expect a special treaty or agreement in place of accession. I request you to take this to the maharaja. I am told he will ratify anything you decide.’


‘That is not so,’ CP protested, affronted by the viceroy’s remark. He abhorred their perception of the maharaja as an obedient boy following his mother and diwan submissively, making CP out to be a ruthless puppeteer. ‘His Highness confides in me, but the decision will be his own,’ CP stated to clear any misconceptions. ‘All policies and actions formulated by me are the result of close and daily consultation with His Highness, who is highly educated and cognizant of public affairs. He is the sovereign; I am merely his diwan.’


‘Nehru and Patel tell me that there are serious differences of opinion between you and your maharaja,’ parried Lord Mountbatten, ‘and that he may well ask you to resign shortly…’


‘Hah…won’t Sardar like that!’ CP scoffed. ‘Well…perhaps you can point out to Sardar that were I to resign at this moment, the very thing he wants to avoid will surely happen. The hub of communist activity, which he fears so greatly, is not far from Trivandrum. And if I am gone, they will sweep across the region.’


Elbows on the table, Viceroy Mountbatten laced his fingers thoughtfully.


‘And let me also remind Sardar,’ CP went on, ‘that I did resign of my own accord a year ago. I returned to my post only at the maharaja’s behest.’


‘I take it you are aware that Seth Dalmia has pumped in about five lakh rupees into the Travancore State Congress to start some sort of a subversive agitation there after 15 August, and I am sure there is more to follow,’ the viceroy pointed out, ‘perhaps to overrun the administration.’


‘Well, if the Congress can spend five lakhs,’ CP mounted a spirited defence, ‘the government of Travancore is more than capable and prepared to counter this. Do convey this, along with my warmest regards, to Sardar Patel and Pandit Nehru.’


The viceroy sighed. If Nehru was a master of words and Sardar a man of steel, C.P. Ramaswami was a bit of both.


‘The bullet may make an end of me…’ CP stood up to leave, his words heavy with prophetic undertones as a clap of thunder rumbled across the skies. ‘And perhaps the Congress thinks that will solve the whole problem, but let me make it very clear,’ he added, undaunted by rumours of threats to his life, ‘the Congress will not get the result they want by eliminating me.’
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‘It is my privilege to stand before you on this special occasion,’ CP began his speech on a flower-festooned stage, addressing a packed gathering at the Music Academy Hall in Trivandrum after his return from Delhi. ‘Sree Swathi Thirunal was one of Travancore’s greatest sons, and as a devoted and lifelong shishya of Carnatic music, I say with confidence that few composers have surpassed him.’


Maharaja Chithira Thirunal nodded at CP in agreement. Resplendent in a fine silk tunic and turban, he was seated in a gilded, throne-like seat behind the diwan. A musician–king, Swathi Thirunal was indeed one of the finest composers of all time, one among the many great artistes the royal family of Travancore had produced.
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Raja Ravi Varma, the famous artist, was born into the Travancore royal family in the late nineteenth century and was the grandfather of Sethu Parvathi Bayi. Swathi Thirunal, the illustrious early-nineteenth-century music composer, is another famous name from the dynasty. Continuing the rich tradition, Aswathi Thirunal Rama Varma, a great-grandson of the last maharaja, is a reputed contemporary Indian classical musician.
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‘Maharaja Swathi Thirunal had a troublesome and uneasy relationship with the British.’ CP said, casually tossing his angavastram to drape it over his shoulder. ‘And it is only befitting that his centenary celebrations coincide with the end of British paramountcy when we are about to usher in a new era of a sovereign and independent Travancore.’


The auditorium erupted into rapturous applause. Rasikas, royals, musicians, officials, special guests, students, all rose as one to give CP a standing ovation, as Semmangudi Srinivasa Iyer, one of the finest singers of the day, came on to the stage, bowing to the royals before he began his performance.


The maharaja, his mother and CP descended from the stage and took their seats in the front row. Semmangudi began his alapana. Down the passageway, Mani took up his position behind a cylindrical pillar.


As the audience swooned over Semmangudi’s masterful musical rendition, CP closed his eyes in bliss, little knowing that death lurked in the shadows.


Mani rested his hand reassuringly on the weapon tucked into the khaki shorts under his mundu, waiting to strike.


Semmangudi finished the charanam. The audience applauded heartily. The maestro bowed and thanked his enthralled listeners.


Taking leave of the maharaja and his mother, CP rose from his seat. His secretary, Chidambaram, stood up to follow him. The inspector general of police jumped to attention, insisting on escorting the diwan to his car.


Behind them, the Alathur Brothers – Srinivasa Iyer and Sivasubramania Iyer – came on to the stage to perform next. Pleasantries were exchanged between the artistes. The mridangist began tuning his instrument. The violinist cracked a joke. They all laughed.


The inspector general, who was escorting CP, paused at the end of the aisle to speak to an acquaintance at the door.


CP reached his car and just as he was about to get in, a thickset youth, brandishing a pointed hooked knife, blocked his path and shoved the diwan to the ground. Chidambaram stood by, paralysed with fear.


Pinning the diwan down with his left arm, Mani slashed at his torso with his weapon. With remarkable agility and presence of mind, the diwan twisted to his left, the first blow lacerating his fingers. Mani retracted the dagger to strike again, this time gripping the diwan’s throat.


The lights went out. The street was plunged in darkness.


‘Help!’ rasped CP, struggling for breath.


‘Police…torch…help!’ Chidambaram gasped from somewhere behind him.
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‘HELP!’ RASPED CP.


CP tried to wriggle free of Mani’s grasp, instinctively twisting away each time the weapon came down. Its sharp edge grazed the bridge of his nose and cheek. He let out a howl of pain. The mridangam and violin swallowed his screams.


Mani struck again. And again. And again.


CP gasped and then slumped to the ground.


Shuffling footsteps. Cries. People. Voices. Police. Stretcher. Doctors. Hospital.


A blur.


[image: img] Death or Democracy [image: img]


As dark rain-bearing clouds threatened to burst over the emerald kingdom – a picturesque domain dotted with windswept coconut groves and paddy fields – Bhaktivilas was abuzz with activity. Doctors and nurses bustled about carrying trays of medicine and bandages. Attendants tiptoed in and out with food and drink. Well-wishers dropped by, bearing fruits and making enquiries. Officials and bureaucrats waited in the corridors, clutching files and paperwork.


‘My staff cannot but marvel at the way you braved the surgery without anaesthesia,’ said Dr Keshavan, smiling as he changed the diwan’s dressing. ‘How fortunate that you had the angavastram around your neck, but for which the dagger would have sliced through the jugular vein.’


CP lay back and closed his eyes. Talk of all kinds of conspiracies had been doing the rounds along with rumours of the involvement of high-ranking officials: Congress party workers, the electricity department and even the police. Questions whirled in his mind. Mere seconds before the attack, why had the inspector general stopped short of escorting him all the way to the car? Why had there been a power outage just at that moment? The lights had come back on immediately after the assailant’s escape. How had the killer managed to flee from right under the nose of the police force? Answers were hard to come by, but the good news was that, despite his age, CP had managed to thwart his assassin.
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BHAKTIVILAS: HOME BECOMES OFFICE


‘Fortunately, no bones or cartilage were damaged,’ said the doctor as he finished his examination. ‘The flesh wounds will heal soon.’


‘Thank you for all you have done for me, doctor’—CP sat up to begin work. The bedroom in Bhaktivilas had been temporarily converted into his makeshift office and all senior government staff reported to him there.


Krishnamurthi, the maharaja’s private secretary, who had been waiting in the anteroom, entered with a basket of dry fruits and healing herbs. ‘His Highness and the maharani are worried about you,’ he said, pulling up a chair beside CP’s bed.


‘I must convey my thoughts to the maharaja and maharani immediately,’ CP told Krishnamurthi, propping himself up by his elbows, recalling his discussion with the viceroy.


Meanwhile, the viceroy had agreed to negotiate for certain concessions for Travancore. ‘My formal letter of advice will come later, but first tell the maharaja,’ CP drew in a breath, ‘that I reiterate what I told him after my return from Delhi. It is either accession or independence – there is no middle ground. No special treaty. No face-saving formula.’


Krishnamurthi nodded, pulled out his pen and began jotting down CP’s every word.


‘It was clear from my talk with the viceroy,’ CP went on, ‘that if we give way, we will get some advantages just like the other states. But if we do not comply, it will be a hard battle. I would go so far as to say civil war may break out within the next six months, and I am willing to bet that the Congress leaders will be gone by the end of the year.’


Still reeling from the impact of the blow at the back of the skull, CP paused to sip water with his attendant’s help. He opened his mouth, then winced – the stab injury behind his lower palate made eating and drinking painful. ‘We can hope for some assistance from Mr Jinnah in case of trouble,’ he continued, scrutinizing his bandaged fingers. ‘Those who survive the terrible confrontation that is in the offing will emerge as rulers, but there is great risk of a threat to life and property… And whatever we decide, we will need to inform the nawab of Bhopal and the nizam of Hyderabad.’


A bearer entered with coconut water for the diwan and fruit juice for his visitor. As the attendant held the glass to CP’s lips, Krishnamurthi continued to scribble in his notepad, taken aback by the diwan’s remarks. CP had always been a great advocate of India’s unity, vociferously opposing Jinnah’s ‘two-nation theory’. However, suddenly now, Jinnah, the nawab and the nizam – all of whom had set their faces against a united India – appeared to have become confidants and allies.


‘It is either death or victory,’ CP said prophetically. ‘The events of the last few days have made me realize that the maharaja’s life is also in jeopardy, as well as the lives of those near and dear to him. If the maharaja feels that his people are not ready for battle or they are not worth fighting for, compromise is inevitable.’


Flopping back on the pillow, CP looked out through the window at the ominous, overcast skies. The weather seemed to reflect his sombre mood.


‘Tell the maharaja’—he sighed deeply—’that accession to India is his only option.’
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As his diwan lay recuperating at Bhaktivilas, Maharaja Chithira Thirunal Rama Varma fiddled with his fountain pen at the desk, casting another glance at the two letters before him. One had been sent by the viceroy, allaying their fears and promising no interference from the Government of India in Travancore’s customs, tariffs and taxes or its internal jurisdiction. The other was from his diwan, writing to him from his sickbed, advising him to take the plunge.


Standing beside him, her face solemn and grim, Maharani Sethu Parvathi Bayi nodded slightly.


The maharaja took a deep breath and brought nib down to paper. He paused. The bruised face of his diwan, a father figure, appeared before his eyes. That a man as powerful and protected as CP had been attacked sent a chill down his spine. He gripped the pen tightly, said a silent prayer and began writing to the viceroy.


Your Excellency’s letter of the 22nd July has been handed over to me by Sir C.P. Ramaswami Aiyar. He has also told me of the discussions he has had with Your Excellency … Having regard to the assurances conveyed by Your Excellency, I have decided, though not without hesitation, to take this step of accession to the Dominion of India subject to the conditions adverted to in your letter.


Putting down the pen, the maharaja gazed at the tall palace spires framed by the window. They appeared to reach for the skies through the gabled roof. Would the Lord approve, Chithira Thirunal wondered, weighed down by the enormous legacy he carried. Would his glorious ancestors approve?
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